# EUR 5125 e

COMMISSION OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES

# DETERMINATION OF MERCURY BY CONTROLLED POTENTIAL COULOMETRY: AN OUTLAY FOR AUTOMATIC PERFORMANCE

by

H. MUNTAU and R. CENCI

1974



Joint Nuclear Research Centre Ispra Establishment - Italy Chemistry Division

# LEGAL NOTICE

This document was prepared under the sponsorship of the Commission of the European Communities.

Neither the Commission of the European Communities, its contractors nor any person acting on their behalf:

make any warranty or representation, express or implied, with respect to the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of the information contained in this document, or that the use of any information, apparatus, method or process disclosed in this document may not infringe privately owned rights; or

assume any liability with respect to the use of, or for damages resulting from the use of any information, apparatus, method or process disclosed in this document.

This report is on sale at the addresses listed on cover page 4

at the price of B.Fr. 40.—

Commission of the European Communities D.G. XIII - C.I.D. 29, rue Aldringen Luxembourg May 1974

This document was reproduced on the basis of the best available copy.

#### EUR 5125 e

DETERMINATION OF MERCURY BY CONTROLLED POTENTIAL COULOMETRY: AN OUTLAY FOR AUTOMATIC PERFORMANCE by H. MUNTAU and R. CENCI

Commission of the European Communities Joint Nuclear Research Centre — Ispra Establishment (Italy) Chemistry Division Luxembourg, May 1974 — 24 Pages — 3 Figures — B.Fr. 40.—

The determination of mercury by controlled-potential coulometry in presence of  $CaBr_7$ -concentrations between 0.05 and 1.5 M and HBr-concentrations between 0.1 and 1.0 M is possible using perchloric acid as a basal electrolyte.

The mercury amounts needed for each determination are ranging from ca. 40 mg to 10  $\mu$ g. The precision obtainable is better than 0.25 % for the higher concentration range, e.g., between 1 and 40 mg.

EUR 5125 e

. . . . . . . .

DETERMINATION OF MERCURY BY CONTROLLED POTENTIAL COULOMETRY: AN OUTLAY FOR AUTOMATIC PERFORMANCE by H. MUNTAU and R. CENCI

Commission of the European Communities Joint Nuclear Research Centre — Ispra Establishment (Italy) Chemistry Division Luxembourg, May 1974 — 24 Pages — 3 Figures — B.Fr. 40.—

The determination of mercury by controlled-potential coulometry in presence of  $CaBr_z$ -concentrations between 0.05 and 1.5 M and HBr-concentrations between 0.1 and 1.0 M is possible using perchloric acid as a basal electrolyte.

The mercury amounts needed for each determination are ranging from ca. 40 mg to 10  $\mu$ g. The precision obtainable is better than 0.25 % for the higher concentration range, e.g., between 1 and 40 mg.

----

#### EUR 5125 e

DETERMINATION OF MERCURY BY CONTROLLED POTENTIAL COULOMETRY: AN OUTLAY FOR AUTOMATIC PERFORMANCE by H. MUNTAU and R. CENCI

Commission of the European Communities Joint Nuclear Research Centre — Ispra Establishment (Italy) Chemistry Division Luxembourg, May 1974 — 24 Pages — 3 Figures — B.Fr. 40.—

The determination of mercury by controlled-potential coulometry in presence of  $CaBr_2$ -concentrations between 0.05 and 1.5 M and HBr-concentrations between 0.1 and 1.0 M is possible using perchloric acid as a basal electrolyte.

The mercury amounts needed for each determination are ranging from ca. 40 mg to 10  $\mu$ g. The precision obtainable is better than 0.25 % for the higher concentration range, e.g., between 1 and 40 mg.

The reduction does not need to be completed when plotting log i vs t.

Full automation of the entire analytical procedure, including sampling, sample treating, analysis and data processing, seems possible.

The reduction does not need to be completed when plotting log i vs t. Full automation of the entire analytical procedure, including sampling, sample treating, analysis and data processing, seems possible.

The reduction does not need to be completed when plotting log i vs t. Full automation of the entire analytical procedure, including sampling, sample treating, analysis and data processing, seems possible.

# EUR 5125 e

COMMISSION OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES

# DETERMINATION OF MERCURY BY CONTROLLED POTENTIAL COULOMETRY: AN OUTLAY FOR AUTOMATIC PERFORMANCE

by

H. MUNTAU and R. CENCI

1974



Joint Nuclear Research Centre Ispra Establishment - Italy Chemistry Division

## ABSTRACT

The determination of mercury by controlled-potential coulometry in presence of CaBr<sub>2</sub>-concentrations between 0.05 and 1.5 M and HBr-concentrations between 0.1 and 1.0 M is possible using perchloric acid as a basal electrolyte. The mercury amounts needed for each determination are ranging from ca. 40 mg to 10  $\mu$ g. The precision obtainable is better than 0.25 % for the higher concentration range, e.g., between 1 and 40 mg. The reduction does not need to be completed when plotting log i vs t

÷

٠

i vs t.

Full automation of the entire analytical procedure, including sampling, sample treating, analysis and data processing, seems possible.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	INTRODUCTION	5	
2.	EXPERIMENTAL	6	
	2.1. Apparatus and reagents	6	
	2.2. Procedure	8	
	2.3. Preparation of standards	8	
	2.4. Measurements on Standard I	9	
	2.4.1. Concentration range	10	
	2.4.2. Concentration of basal electrolyte	11	
	2.5. Measurements on Standard II	12	
	2.5.1. Influence of CaBr <sub>2</sub> -concentration	12	
3.	OUTLINE OF AN AUTOMATIC SYSTEM	14	
4.	DISCUSSION	16	
5.	. CONCLUSION 19		

1. INTRODUCTION

Production of hydrogen by nuclear heat [1, 1a] involves certain cycles of intermediate reactions, the most extensively studied one being the following :

1)  $CaBr_2 + 2 H_2 0 \xrightarrow{700^{\circ}} Ca(OH)_2 + 2 HBr$ 2) 2 HBr + Hg  $\xrightarrow{250^{\circ}}$  HgBr\_2 + H<sub>2</sub> 3) HgBr\_2 + Ca(OH)\_2  $\xrightarrow{200^{\circ}}$  CaBr\_2 + HgO + H<sub>2</sub>O 4) HgO  $\xrightarrow{600^{\circ}}$  Hg + 1/2 O<sub>2</sub>

The efficiency of any production plant using such a cycle will depend strongly on the yield of the single reactions. Analytical control of the reaction products is therefore unavoidable.

Whereas the analytical problems involved with the hydrogen production step were studied in detail  $2^{2}$ , the present study is dedicated to the HgO-precipitation-and CaBr<sub>2</sub>-regeneration step (3).

From an analytical point of view this step seems the most incomplete one, mainly due to complexation phenomena occurring in the presence of the virtually high Br<sup>-</sup> concentration. MARCUS  $\int 3_{-}^{-7}$  pointed out, that in cases of Br<sup>-</sup> concentrations of n > 2 in the presence of n Hg<sup>2+</sup> exclusively the complexes  $\int HgBr_{3_{-}}^{-7}$  and  $\int HgBr_{4_{-}}^{-7}$  will be formed whereas the formation of Hg<sup>2+</sup>, HgBr<sup>+</sup> and HgBr<sub>2</sub> will be negligible. Regarding the CaBr<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> concentration, certainly part of the HgBr<sub>2</sub> will escape the precipitation and be transferred to the hydrolysis step 1). Therefore, the residual mercury bromide should be monitored, if possible, completely automatically, regarding also the relatively high and unstable temperature of the CaBr<sub>2</sub>- solution.

As an analytical method, which appears to meet best the above mentioned requirements, we have chosen controlled potential coulometry (CPC) using a mercury cathode. We did so for the following reasons :

- CPC as an absolute method does not need chemical calibration and standards ;
- it will not suffer from electrode poisoning, passivation effects and other surface alterations, as solid electrodes necessarily do;
- varying temperatures of the samples do not show unfavourable influence;
- varying composition of the sample, e.g. increasing or decreasing concentrations of CaBr<sub>2</sub>, Ca(OH)<sub>2</sub>, HBr are not expected to influence the results ;
- wide concentration ranges between 40 mg/ml and 20/ug/ml;
- the precision to be obtained (RSD = 0,1 0,2 %)
- regarding the actual design of now-a-days coulometers and the constancy of its cell elements, CPC appears to be the most suitable technique for automatization.

### 2. EXPERIMENTAL

## 2.1. Apparatus and reagents

The ORNL electronic controlled-potential coulometer 2005-x50 was used throughout this study. This instrument is an improved version of the one designed by BOOMAN  $\sqrt{4}$  and has been

- 6 -

described in more details by LE DUIGOU and LAUER  $\sum 5_{-}$ . It is designed to supply electrolysis current to the electrode system while maintaining the potential of the working electrode - in most cases a mercury electrode at some chosen value with respect to a reference electrode. Polarity of the working electrode and direction of current flow can be chosen to run either reduction or oxidation titrations.

A portion of the current that flows is integrated electronically by an integrating operational amplifier such that the charge accumulated is a measure of the coulombs that have been used. The integral is read out as a voltage with aid of a Keithley Multimeter. (FIG. 1).

The quantity of the substance reduced or oxidized is then calculated from the voltage by means of Faraday's law.

The reaction vessel used in this study was designed and is used for routine measurements of uranium (FIG. 2).

It consists of a 50-ml glass vessel with a sealed-in platinum contact, a plexiglas cap, which supports a Radiometer Calomel Reference electrode, a separated electrode compartment and an argon inlet tube.

Stirring is provided by a glass disk, about 1 cm in diameter and positioned horizontally at the mercury-electrolyte interface, with a 6 mm glass rod sealed at its center and protruding through the cap, so that it can be driven by an 1500  $r_{\circ}p_{\circ}$ m.motor.

The cell is equipped with a two-way inlet for argon, which in a first step deaerates the electrolyte prior to analysis and in second step keeps the space over the electrolyte free

## from penetrating air.

The mercury used as pool electrode was a Mercure-Industries product and is 99,99999 % pure. The argon used for sweeping out air from the cell and the electrolyte was U.P.P. quality. Other reagents used, as mercury bromide, calcium bromide and several acids, were reagent grade and used without further purification.

## 2.2. Procedure

All measurements were performed in the same way : After pouring 7 ml of mercury and usually 5 ml of the basal electrolyte, mostly 5 M HClO<sub>4</sub>, a potential of - 0,3 V was applied to the mercury electrode and while stirring the solution and sweeping argon through it, the current through the cell has allowed to reach its background value, say 30/uA. Then the integrator was zeroed and a small sample, defined either by volume or weight, introduced into the cell. The argon then was allowed to pass over the surface of the liquid and the electrolysis continued until the background current is reached again. The coulombs used are then a direct measure of the quantity of mercury reduced.

## 2.3. Preparation of standards

The questions to be answered during this study were the following :

- is it in principle possible to apply CPC to the determination of mercury?
- if yes, how would complexing agents, as for example CaBr<sub>2</sub> and HBr, influence the reduction?
- would it be possible to automate the several steps involved with sampling and measurement, regarding the special condi-

- 8 -

tions of the system, from which the samples are to be taken?

To answer the first question, an extremely pure mercurysulphate solution was prepared by dissolving a weighed amount of 99,99999 % pure mercury in supra-pure nitric acid by gentle warming after covering the mercury by double-distilled water. The mercury solution obtained was fumed twice with suprapure sulphuric acid and the solution diluted to defined weight and volume (Standard I = 12,76mg  $Hg^{2+}/g$  or 15,85 mg  $Hg^{2+}/ml_{\bullet}$ 

A second standard solution has been prepared from HgBr<sub>2</sub>, suspended in excess in twice-distilled water and allowed to stand for 3 days at room temperature. The remaining excess of HgBr<sub>2</sub> was then filtered off. Cyanometric analysis of the solution yielded a value of 2,90 mg Hg/ml, corresponding to 5,21 mg HgBr<sub>2</sub>/ml or a molarity of 0,0145, value considerably lower than the maximum solubility at 25° of 0,0170, given by GMELIN [7,7]. It has been reported, on the other hand, that HgBr<sub>2</sub>-solutions, prepared by heating, after cooling will contain more HgBr<sub>2</sub> due to hydrolysis occurring while heating and owing to the much higher solubility of HgBr<sub>2</sub> in even very diluted HBr-solutions [8,7] (Standard II = 2,9 mg/ml).

## 2.4. Measurements on Standard I

The cell was prepared as described under 2.2. using 1 M HClO<sub>4</sub> as basal electrolyte. Weighed amounts of Standard I were introduced and reduced.

A second series of measurements were performed introducing each 1 ml with aid of a calibrated pipette. Results are shown in Table 1.

# TABLE 1

Mercury given	Mercury found	Mercury given	Mercury found
(mg/g)	(mg/g)	(mg/ml)	(mg/ml)
10,270	$10,31$ $10,26$ $10,27$ $10,28$ $10,27$ $10,26$ $10,28$ $10,25$ $10,27$ $\overline{x} = 10,27_{2}$ $RSD*= 0,17\%$	12,761	$12,81$ $12,77$ $12,79$ $12,81$ $12,82$ $12,84$ $12,78$ $12,78$ $12,75$ $\overline{x} = 12,79$ $RSD*= 0,19\%$

# 2.4.1. Concentration range

The ORNL Automatic Coulometer has been designed for measurements in the Milligram range. Nevertheless, stepwise amplification is possible and uranium amounts as low as 9/ug have been determined successfully  $\int 9_{-}^{7}$ .

Maximum capacity of our integrator is equal to about 40 mg of mercury. Diluting standard I a series of measurements has been performed down to a total amount of about 12/ug of mercury. 1 M HClO<sub>4</sub> was used as a basal electrolyte. Results are shown in Table II.

\* RSD (Relative Standard Deviation) =  $\frac{6.100}{3}$ 

TABLE II

Amplification	Mercury given* (mg)	x	n	RSD (%)	Basal electrolyte
1 x 1	38,28	38,39	6	0,17	1 м нсіо <sub>4</sub>
1 x 1	12,76	12,83	5	0,14	
1 x 10	1,276	1,289	5	0,18	
10 x 10	0,128	0,129	5	0,20	
10 x 100	0,013	0,014	5	2,2	

\* Values approximatively defined by diluting Standard I.

# 2.4.2. Concentration of basal electrolyte

Sulphuric acid and perchloric acid due to their indifferent chemical nature are favorite basal electrolytes in controlled-potential coulometry. Regarding the high  $Ca^{2+}$  - concentration of our actual samples, perchloric acid has been chosen as basal electrolyte. The concentration of the basal electrolyte very often influences both reduction potential and completeness of reaction. Hence, 1-ml-amounts of standard I were reduced varying the concentration of perchloric acid from 0.5 M to 5 M (Table III).

Mercury given	HC104	n	x (mg)	RSD (%)
12,76	0,5	6	12,81	0,17
12,76	1,0	5	12,83	0,14
12,76	2,0	6	12,78	0,18
12,76	3,0	6	12,80	0,15
12,76	4,0	6	12,79	0,17
12,76	5,0	6	12,83	0,14

TABLE III

Considering the mercury reduction not influenced by varying  $HClO_4$  concentrations, we decided to perform all further measurements in 5 M  $HClO_4$ .

## 2.5. Measurements on Standard II

A series of measurements has been performed on 1 mlaliquotes of standard II yielding  $\bar{x} = 2,93$  (theoretical values = 2,90 mg Hg) and RSD = 0,22 %.

Obviously a small positive bias occurred during the measurements, owing probably to certain differences in the analytical techniques employed,  $e_{\circ}g_{\circ}$ , the cyanometric technique and CPC.

# 2.5.1. Influence of CaBr2-concentration

Several  $CaBr_2$ -solutions, varying in concentration between 10 and 30 % (W/V) previously saturated with  $Ca(OH)_2$  were prepared. 1 ml-Aliquots of Standard II were introduced into the cell, (containing 5 M  $HClO_4$  as basal electrolyte), added the appropriate amounts of  $CaBr_2$ -solution and mixed by bubbling through argon. Table V shows the results.

CaBr <sub>2</sub> (M)	Mercury given (mg)	Mercury found (mg)	n	RSD
0,05	2,90	2,92	5	0,21
0,15	2,90	2,93	5	0,19
0,25	2,90	2,94	5	0,17
0,75	2,90	2,95	5	0,19
1,5	2,90	2,93	5	0,20

TABLEV

# 2.5.2. Influence of free HBr

Without attempting to decide whether or not free HBr may occur under operation conditions, its possible presence has to be considered from an analytical point of view.

Using a calcium bromide solution containing no  $Ca(OH)_2$ for maintaining a constant  $CaBr_2$ -concentration level (1,5 M) the influence of increasing amounts of HBr on the determination of 1 ml-aliquots Standard II was investigated. Results are shown in Table VI.

TABLE VI

HBr (M)	CaBr <sub>2</sub> (M)	Mercury given (mg)	Mercury found (mg)	n	RSD
0,1	1,5	2,90	2,93	5	0,22
1,0	1,5	2,90	2,95	5	0,18

### 3. OUTLINE OF AN AUTOMATIC SYSTEM

An attempt has been undertaken outlining roughly the possibilities of a system that enables fully automatic sampling, sample treatment, coulometric analysis and evaluation of data obtained.

Of course, this first attempt is far from being complete and perfect and closer studies of the design problems will be necessary.

Roughly, the sequence of operation could be the following: (See also FIG. 3).

- The central programming unit (CPU) activates the coulometer which starts reduction, in order to clean the vessel and the surface of the mercury cathode. At some pre-determined value, say 30/uA of background current, the coulometer stops and the argon stream is switched to blow on the basal electrolyte surface using a magnetically operated two-way valve.
- CPU opens an electromagnetic valve attached to the loop allowing to flow a portion of the sample into the expansion vessel.

- After appropriate expanding and cooling and diluting the sample is forced into the sampling system by means of a small pump.
- The sampling system takes an aliquot of the sample and injects it into the cell. A similar sampling system was just recently described by ROSSI and PICKFORD [10] for automatic sampling and sample injection, applied to the problem of high purity water analysis by flameless atomic-absorption spectroscopy.
- The coulometer is switched on and electrolysis proceeded until the background current (30/uA) is reached.
- The voltage accumulated by integrating the electrolysis current is supplied to the CPU, thus zeroing the integrator for the next measurement. The values obtained for single determinations are to be compared automatically to given nominal values. Large deviations from these values may trigger an immediate repetition of the measurement and/or may operate an alarm system.
- CPU operates the pump in order to remove the basal electrolyte from the cell and causes the injection of fresh basal electrolyte into the cell.
- Finally the argon valve is switched to bubble argon through the basal electrolyte and the system is ready for the next cycle.

## 4. DISCUSSION

Obviously chemical parameters hitherto considered do not influence the determination of mercury in Br<sup>--</sup> containing complexing media.

The relative standard deviations obtained are somewhat higher than the optimum values of about 0,05 % which are to be obtained in high precision coulometry, they agree, however, well with average values observed in routine measurements.

More critical is the somewhat embarassingly long time needed for the accomplishment of the electrolyte process. Here remedial measures are possible paying a closer look to the fundamentals governing the electrode reactions. Keeping the potential of the working electrode constant, the current at the time t will be :

$$i_{t} = n F \left(\frac{nF}{dt}\right) = n \cdot F \cdot N \cdot D \cdot q/v \cdot \delta \qquad (1)$$

- dt = number of moles reacting each second at the electrode
   surface
- D = Diffusion coefficient
- q = electrode surface
- v = volume
- $\delta$  = thickness diffusion layer
- N = number of moles

and correspondingly  $i_0$ , the current at the beginning of the electrolysis is :

$$i_{O} = n \cdot F \cdot N_{O} \cdot D \cdot q/v \cdot \delta$$
 (2)

Hence, the current at any time t is proportional to the number of moles of substance not yet reacted.

Since the transport of depolarizator to the electrode surface is diffusion controlled, dN/dt is also approximately :

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\mathbf{N}}{\mathrm{d}\mathbf{t}} \simeq \mathbf{N} \cdot \mathbf{D} \cdot \mathbf{q} / \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{\delta}$$
(3)

which yields :

$$\frac{dN}{N} = \frac{D_{\bullet}q}{r_{\bullet}d} \cdot dt$$
 (4)

and :

$$N = N_0 \cdot e^{-D_0 q_0 t / v_0 \delta}$$
 (5)

combined with equations (1) and (2)  $i_t$  is :

$$i_{t} = i_{0} \cdot e^{-k_{\bullet}t}$$
 (6)

where k is :

$$\mathbf{K} = \mathbf{D}_{\bullet} \mathbf{q} / \mathbf{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{\delta} \tag{7}$$

From (6) it becomes evident that  $i_t$  decreases exponentially. Plotting log i vs t a straight line is obtained which yields K. This behaviour has been experimentally verified (11) . The equations (7)' and (8) show, how shorter electrolysis intervals may be obtained. As the constant K is directly proportional to q/v, high stirring rates will decrease and higher temperature will/increase D, hence decreasing t. Moreover, it is not necessary to accomplish the reduction process down to its background current. The amount of electricity used is defined as :

$$Q = \int_{0}^{\infty} i_{0} \cdot e^{-Kt} \cdot dt = i_{0}/2,303 \cdot K$$
 (8)

and may be determined simply by plotting log i vs t. Then i<sub>o</sub> is the intersection with the ordinate and K the slope. Therefore, only a short interval must be recorded. Extrapolation and evaluation of data could be performed automatically.

A second point of interest is the concentration range to be covered. The currently used ORNL coulometer will work with agreeable accuracy between 40 mg/ml and 10/ug/ml or 0.2 M to 5  $\cdot$  10<sup>-5</sup> M respectively. The new GOKA coulometer, designed at the KFA Karlsruhe for work in the low concentration range, will reach 5.10<sup>-6</sup> M, but is limited to about 0.02 M (4 mg) as maximum capacity.

Only a few potentiostat-coulometers are recently offered on the market and they seldom meet the special requirements wanted by the customer.

It is therefore understandable that people, interested in this branch of electroanalytical chemistry, usually attempts to construct their own coulometer. To our knowledge, high precision coulometers were built and are currently in use at CEA Fontaney-aux-Roses [12], BCMN Geel [13] and the Lawrence Radiation Lab., Livermore, Calif. [6]. With special effort it is possible to extend the concentration range over two more orders of magnitude and to lower the relative standard deviation to 0.01 %.

### 5. CONCLUSION

The determination of mercury by controlled-potential coulometry in presence of  $CaBr_2$ -concentrations between 0,05 and 1,5 M and HBr-concentrations between 0,1 and 1,0 M is possible using perchloric acid as a basal electrolyte.

The mercury amounts needed for each determination are ranging from ca. 40 mg to 10/ug. The precision obtainable is better than 0,25 % for the higher concentration range, e.g., between 1 and 40 mg.

The reduction does not need to be completed when plotting log i vs t.

Full automation of the entire analytical procedure, including sampling, sample treating, analysis and data processing, seems possible.

# LITERATURE

<u>_ 1_</u>	G. DE BENI, C. MARCHETTI Eurospectra, June 1970, p. 46-50
<b>[1</b> a7	G. DE BENI, G. BEGHI in Annual Rept. IRC ISPRA Establ. (1971)
[2]	G. SERRINI, W. LEYENDECKER EUR 4602, (1971)
<u>_</u> 3_7	Y. MARKUS Acta Chem. Scien. <u>11</u> (1957), p. 599-604
<u>[</u> 4]	C.L. BOOMAN Anal. Chem. <u>29</u> , (1957) 213
<u>[</u> 5]	Y. LE DUIGOU, K.F. LAUER EUR 3601 (1967)
[6]	J.E. HARRAR, E. BEHRIN Anal. Chem. <u>39</u> , (1967) 1230
<u>[</u> 1]	GMELIN Handbuch der Anorganischen Chemie, Band Queck- silber, Teil B
<u>[8]</u>	A. VICARIO J. Pharm. Chim. <u>6</u> , (1907) 145
<u>[9]</u>	M.A. CASTIAUX Unpublished Work
<u>[10]</u>	C.J. PICKFORD, G. ROSSI Analyst. <u>97</u> , (1972) 647
<u>[11]</u>	J.J. LINGANE J. Amer. Chem. Soc. <u>67</u> , (1945) 1916
<u>[12]</u>	R. MOLINA CEA Fontaney-aux-Roses (Personal Communication)
<u>[</u> 13 <u></u> ]	K. LAUER BCMN Geel (Personal Communication).



- 21 -

. .

FIGURE 1



FIGURE 2



Signal	flow	
Mass f	iow	

FIGURE 3

## NOTICE TO THE READER

All scientific and technical reports published by the Commission of the European Communities are announced in the monthly periodical "euro-abstracts". For subscription (1 year: B.Fr. 1025,--) or free specimen copies please write to:

> Office for Official Publications of the European Communities Case postale 1003 Luxembourg 1 (Grand-Duchy of Luxembourg)

To disseminate knowledge is to disseminate prosperity — I mean general prosperity and not individual riches — and with prosperity disappears the greater part of the evil which is our heritage from darker times.

Alfred Nobel

# SALES OFFICES

The Office for Official Publications sells all documents published by the Commission of the European Communities at the addresses listed below, at the price given on cover. When ordering, specify clearly the exact reference and the title of the document.

#### UNITED KINGDOM

H.M. Stationery Office P.O. Box 569 London S.E. 1 — Tel. 01-928 69 77, ext. 365

### BELGIUM

Moniteur belge — Belgisch Staatsblad Rue de Louvain 40-42 — Leuvenseweg 40-42 1000 Bruxelles — 1000 Brussel — Tel. 12 00 26 CCP 50-80 — Postgiro 50-80

#### Agency : Librairie européenne — Europese Boekhandel Rue de la Loi 244 — Wetstraat 244 1040 Bruxelles — 1040 Brussel

#### DENMARK

*J.H. Schultz — Boghandel* Møntergade 19 DK 1116 København K — Tel. 14 11 95

#### FRANCE

Service de vente en France des publications des Communautés européennes — Journal officiel 26, rue Desaix — 75 732 Paris - Cédex 15\* Tel. (1) 306 51 00 — CCP Paris 23-96

#### **GERMANY (FR)**

Verlag Bundesanzeiger 5 Köln 1 — Postfach 108 006 Tel. (0221) 21 03 48 Telex: Anzeiger Bonn 08 882 595 Postacheckkonto 834 00 Köln

#### GRAND DUCHY OF LUXEMBOURG

Office for Officiel Publications of the European Communities Case postale 1003 — Luxembourg Tel. 4 79 41 — CCP 191-90 Compte courant bancaire: BIL 8-109/6003/200

#### IRELAND

Stationery Office — The Controller Beggar's Bush Dublin 4 — Tel. 6 54 01

# ITALY

Libreria dello Stato Piazza G. Verdi 10 00198 Roma — Tel. (6) 85 08 CCP 1/2640

### NETHERLANDS

*Staatsdrukkerij- en uitgeverijbedrijf* Christoffel Plantijnstraat 's-Gravenhage — Tel. (070) 81 45 11 Postgiro 42 53 00

#### UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

European Community Information Service 2100 M Street, N.W. Suite 707 Washington, D.C., 20 037 — Tel. 296 51 31

#### SWITZERLAND

Libreirie Payot 6, rue Grenus 1211 Genève — Tel. 31 89 50 CCP 12-236 Genève

#### SWEDEN

Librairie C.E. Fritze 2, Fredsgatan Stockholm 16 Post Giro 193, Bank Giro 73/4015

#### SPAIN

*Libreria Mundi-Prensa* Castello 37 Madrid 1 — Tel. 275 51 31

#### OTHER COUNTRIES

Office for Official Publications of the European Communities Case postale 1003 — Luxembourg Tel. 4 79 41 — CCP 191-90 Compte courant bancaire: BIL 8-109/6003/200 CDNA05125ENC